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Hardway Conservation Area Appraisal 

 
Background 
 
The Hardway Conservation Area was 
designated in 1985 to ensure that all 
future developments would ‘preserve or 
enhance’ the historic and architectural 
character of the area. The Hardway 
Conservation Area retains many buildings 
and features of interest which, 
collectively, contribute to the character of 
the area. Importantly, the character of the 
Conservation Area has strong links with 
Portsmouth Harbour, which can be 
viewed from many points within the 
Conservation Area.  
 
Hardway originally grew as a small fishing 
village and was relatively isolated from 
the rest of Gosport town. However, the 
area was vitally important during the 
preparations and embarkations 
associated with Operation Overlord 
during the Second World War. Despite 
significant growth and change during its 
long history, Hardway retains clear 
evidence of its past uses and the way of 
life of its inhabitants and this gives the 
area its special and unique character.  
 
Scope and Structure of the Appraisal 
 
This document is intended to act as a 
guide to the buildings and features of 
interest that make an important 
contribution to the setting of the 
Conservation Area. It also assesses the 
historical development of Hardway, the 
character of the area, and the building 
form and type.  
 
The need to designate Conservation 
Areas is often illustrated by the way in 
which poorly designed new buildings or 
inappropriate modern improvements or 
extensions have a major impact on the 
local character. Therefore, the distinctive 
character of both the buildings and 
spaces within the Hardway Conservation 
Area are highlighted in this document. 
Historic maps relating to the area are 
contained in the Appendix. 
 

 
The Area’s Historic Development 
 
The Hardway Conservation Area is 
situated on the eastern edge of Gosport 
Borough Boundary, next to Portsmouth 
Harbour. The name Hardway begins to 
be used during the 18th century, with the 
early settlement generally being referred 
to as Elson Hardway. It is likely that the 
settlement dates back significantly further 
given its prominent position by the 
harbour. Its inhabitants farmed the 
surrounding open land and fished the 
Harbour. Historically, Hardway was 
relatively isolated from Gosport town as it 
was cut off from the south of the Borough 
by Forton Lake which used to extend 
beyond Forton and towards Ann’s Hill. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
For centuries, the shoreline has been 
characterised by a number of ‘hards’ 
which have helped those using the 
harbour to overcome the shallow harbour 
waters and mudflats and reach deeper 
water. In the mid-nineteenth century they 
were named Goliath’s Hard, Lower and 
Convict’s Hard. As the latter suggests, 
the hards were sometimes used to 
transport convicts to waiting ships 
moored in the harbour. Earlier maps 
show hards named Pinney’s Hard, Elson 
Hard and Priddy’s Hard. Piers now 
occupy the sites of some of the original 
hards. 
 

Figure 1: Extract from Lewis map of 1832 
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Following the relocation of the Royal 
Ordnance Depot from Portsmouth to 
Priddy’s Hard in the mid-eighteenth 
century and the gradual reclamation of 
land at the west end of Forton Lake, 
Hardway became more accessible. As 
such, its popularity grew and it began its 
slow expansion. The three storey 
Georgian residences of the former 
‘Carter’s Terrace’ (now 120-126 Priory 
Road) were built and, along with Moby 
House, they still form a focal point within 
the Conservation Area due mainly to their 
height in relation to other buildings in the 
vicinity. Of the Conservation Area’s early 
buildings, of which 82 Priory Road is the 
oldest, 15 St. Thomas’s Road (formerly 
known as Fairlawn and, later, Hardway 
House) is one of the most significant. 
Dating from the mid-eighteenth century 
with a Victorian rear extension it occupies 
a large plot within the Conservation Area. 
In recent years it has fallen into a state of 
disrepair and any proposal for its 
redevelopment must be mindful of its 
architectural importance and its setting 
within the Conservation Area. 

 
 
 
During the mid-nineteenth century, 
Methodist and Baptist chapels were 
constructed along with a small infant’s 
school in St. Thomas’s Road. Priory 
Road, Chapel Street and The Square 
formed the centre of the nineteenth 
century community and contained a 
variety of houses, pubs, shops and 
businesses. From the core of the 

Conservation Area, the settlement spread 
further and more terraced houses were 
constructed along St. Thomas’s Road, 
Green Lane and Buckler’s Road. By the 
early twentieth century, the houses to the 
western end of Priory Road had been 
constructed. Within this group was a 
Methodist Chapel, but this has since been 
demolished and replaced by 77a and 79 
Priory Road. 
 
The value of Hardway to the D-Day 
Landing operations in 1944 was 
considerable, with many ships and craft 
anchored in Portsmouth Harbour.  The 
waters and foreshore of Hardway were 
heavily utilised for refuelling and repairs 
to naval ships. Moby House, formerly the 
‘White Heather’ PH became Gosport’s Air 
Sea Rescue base in 1942 and ‘The Old 
House at Home’ PH was popular with 
troops sailing from Gosport to France. 
This occupies a prominent position on the 
corner of Chapel Street and is an 
important building within the Conservation 
Area. 

 
 
 
 
In the autumn of 1943 work began on the 
beach hardening process in preparation 
for the D-Day embarkations and Moby 
House was again utilised as the control 
station for all D-Day activities in the area. 
Between the 3rd of June and the 16th of 
November 1944 there were at least 759 
embarkations of landing ships, tanks and 
British and Canadian servicemen 

Figure 2: View west along Priory Road taken 
c.1910, note the former Methodist Chapel

Figure 3: Troops and supplies leaving 
Hardway as part of Operation Overlord, note 
Moby House in the background 
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Reproduced from the 1881 Ordnance Survey map
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Reproduced from the 1898 Ordnance Survey map
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Reproduced from the 1909 Ordnance Survey map
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